1989

Leland A. Fitzgerald and Helen S. Fitzgerald v. Utah
County, a body corporate and politic of the State of
Utah and a governmental entity of the State of Utah
Jeff Mendenhall, Gordon Buckley Rose, Iva Snell,
Keith Richan, Jeril Wilson, Lynn Davis and John
Does 4 trough 20 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of the United States District Court was premised on 28 U.S. C. §1343, 42 U.S. C. §1983, and 42 U.S.C. §1988 and by virtue of the doctrine of pendent jurisdiction of state law claims.

Jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals is conferred by the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §1291.

Judgment was entered August 21, 1989. Notice of Appeal was filed September 15, 1989.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether there are issues of fact which preclude the granting of summary judgment on the constitutionality of the county ordinances.

2. Whether the ruling by the trial court on the constitutionality of the county ordinances is erroneous as a matter of law.

3. Whether there was presented to the trial court sufficient basis for the trial court to hold that appellants had not exhausted adequate state remedies.

4. Whether the ruling by the trial court on the issue of the adequacy of state remedies is erroneous as a matter of law.

5. Whether there are fact issues which make the granting of summary judgment on the issue of defamation plus damage to a property interest erroneous.

6. Whether the trial court's grant of summary judg-

ment on the issue of defamation plus injury to a property interest is erroneous as a matter of law.

7. Whether there are issues of fact and law which preclude the summary judgment on the issue of an unconstitutional 'taking'.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs/Appellants are the owners of real estate holdings in an agricultural area of Cedar Valley, Utah. Plaintiffs/Appellants attempted to sell substantial parts of their farming interests in tracts of 160 acres or larger by complying with the County ordinances enacted under state legislation exempting sales of land for agricultural purposes from subdivision plat filing requirements. Plaintiffs/Appellants filed the restrictive covenants, limiting all of their land holdings in Cedar Valley to agricultural use until compliance with County ordinances. Defendant Utah County brought suit against Plaintiffs/Appellants in state court asking for injunctions and rescission of all contracts of sale entered into by plaintiffs with their buyers and asking to have their contracts declared void and enjoining them from obtaining building permits or selling of their lands.

Plaintiffs brought this action for injunctive relief, and for violation of their civil rights under §1983, by governmental action constituting defamation plus damaging their interests in property guaranteed under the United States

Constitution and applicable state law.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

The trial Court entered a stay of proceedings pending the litigation brought by Utah County against the Plaintiffs/Appellants.

After Utah County had dismissed their state court proceeding against Plaintiffs/Appellants, the U.S. District Court withdrew the stay of proceedings.

After a period of discovery, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all issues.

On September 7, 1988, the trial court granted summary judgment on all issues except the defamation plus damage to an interest in property claim which was reserved for a later time.

On July 25, 1989, the trial court granted the Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment on all issues. Judgment dismissing all claims of the plaintiffs/appellants was granted on August 21, 1989.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The plaintiffs have an ownership interest in approximately 27,000 acres of land in an area known as Cedar Valley in Utah County, State of Utah (Doc. 63 at 3, Defendants Memorandum in support of Motion for Summary Judgment)

2. The subject property in Cedar Valley is unincorporated (Doc. 63 at 4).

3. Defendant Utah County is a political subdivision

organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Utah (Doc. 63 at 4).

4. Defendant Jeff Mendenhall is now employed as the Planning Director of Utah County and has been so employed since April of 1978 (Doc. 63 at 4).

5. Defendant Gordon Buckley Rose is currently employed as a planner by Utah County and, has been an employee of Utah County at all times mentioned within plaintiffs' Complaint (Doc. 63 at 4).

6. Defendant Iva Snell was employed by Utah County at all times mentioned in plaintiffs' Complaint, but has since retired (Doc. 63 at 4).

7. Defendant Keith Richan, previously named as defendant John Doe 1 in Plaintiffs' Designation of John Does, was formerly a member of the Board of County Commissioners of Utah County. He previously was the Chairman of the Utah County Planning Commission. (Doc. 63 at 4 and Doc. 80 Exhibit B at 6).

8. Defendant Jeril Wilson, previously named as defendant John Doe 2 in Plaintiff's Designation of Jon Does, was formerly a member of the Board of County Commissioners of Utah County (Doc. 63 at 4).

9. Defendant Lynn W. Davis, previously named as defendant John Doe 3 in Plaintiffs' Designation of John Does, was a Deputy County Attorney. (Doc. 63 at 5).

10. On or about December 22, 1978, Utah county passed the 1976 Revised Zoning Ordinance of Utah County, Utah

(Doc. 63 at 5).

11. Said ordinance contained a provision requiring the filing of a plat for the subdivision of land, §4-3-52, and allowed for an exemption from the subdivision plat filing requirement upon satisfactory completion of covenants precluding the residential or non-agricultural use of such land until an approved subdivision plat has been recorded, §4-3-53 (Doc. 63 at 5, Addendum K). The ordinance was enacted under the state enabling statute Section 17-27-27, Utah Code Annotated as amended (Addendum J).

12. The Monte Vista parcel, approximately 9,000 acres, was purchased on May 18, 1978 from Wallace Ohran, who had purchased the property from the Cooperative Security Corporation. Lee Fitzgerald's family purchased the stock in Monte Vista Ranch Corporation. (Deposition of Leland A. Fitzgerald, taken May 14, 1987, pp. 7-8, Doc. 63 at 6).

13. The McKinney Land, approximately 12,940 acres, was purchased from the McKinneys on January 31, 1977. It was Leland Fitzgerald's intent to ranch a portion of the parcel and sell part of it (Deposition of Leland A. Fitzgerald taken May 14, 1987, p. 50, Doc. 63 at 6).

14. The DuPratt land, approximately 5,000 acres, was purchased by Leland Fitzgerald on contract from James DuPratt in September, 1977. (Deposition of Leland A. Fitzgerald taken May 14, 1987, p. 89, Doc. 63 at 6).

15. The Nichols parcel, approximately 920 acres, was purchased from Eldred Nichols on March 19, 1979 (Deposition of

Leland A. Fitzgerald taken May 14, 1987, pp. 100-101, Doc. 63 at 6).

16. The Stewart parcel, approximately 53 acres, was purchased on October 11, 1978 from Robert Stewart (Deposition of Leland A. Fitzgerald taken May 14, 1987, p. 105, Doc. 63 at 7).

17. The subject parcels lie partially or entirely within the Mining and Grazing 1 (M&G-1), Rural Residential 5 (RR5), and Agricultural 1 (A01) zones (Doc. 63 at 7).

18. County government and county employees and officials (the Planning Commission and the County Commission) were in a state of confusion in their own minds as to the method and means by which to implement both the state statute and the county ordinance. (Deposition of Iva Snell, Affidavit of Walter and Printess Fitzgerald, Doc. 80 Exhibit F, Addendum B).

19. After purchasing the properties in Cedar Valley, Fitzgeralds developed the properties by clearing weeds from a dust bowl, leveling land, and placing 600 acres under cultivation. (Doc. 80 Exhibit B paragraph 7, Addendum A).

20. They drilled wells producing 87° hot water, made the land more productive, and developed water for both culinary and irrigation purposes (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 8, Addendum A).

21. Fitzgerald put more than \$1,000,000 into improvements in the Cedar Valley project, including three new high-capacity wells (two sixteen-inch wells and one eight-inch

well) with the capacity of producing 20 second feet or approximately 9,000 gallons, per minute, sufficient to irrigate over 1,500 acres of Cedar Valley farmland. Other improvements included four water storage tanks, several miles of culinary pipeline, the beginning of a community park, constructing and graveling roads, and improving several hundred acres of dust bowl-quality land by planting crops (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 10, Addendum A).

22. Combining with numerous people, the Fitzgeralds attempted to form an agricultural community (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 9, Addendum A).

23. Before he started selling any of the farmland in Cedar Valley, Leland A. Fitzgerald went to the State of Utah to find out what was necessary to comply with the Land Sales Practices Act. They gave him papers to outline what was necessary to comply with the Act, and that outline included a requirement to comply with County zoning ordinances. As a result of that, he went to the County to try to comply with the County's zoning ordinances for the purpose of selling land only. His intent was to sell agricultural land in blocks and quantities of sufficient size to meet the needs of potential buyers (Doc. 80, Exhibit B Paragraph 24, Addendum A).

24. Thereafter, he went back to the State and told them that he was going to sell some agricultural tracts. They informed him that they were not interested in matters pertaining to the sale of agricultural tracts, and that that was not covered by the Land Sales Practices Act because it was

specifically exempted from the requirements (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 25, Addendum A).

25. The Fitzgeralds complied with all the ordinances and statutory requirements and all reasonable requests of the county (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 12- 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 24, 25, 27, 28, 30, 32, 33, 34, Addendum A).

26. The county falsified the minutes of the planning commission meetings with the Fitzgeralds pertaining to their proposed community plans and used such falsified minutes as the springboard for the defamation of Fitzgeralds as "illegal developers" (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 12-22, Addendum A).

27. Fitzgerald made numerous efforts to comply with county ordinances on a waiver of plat filing requirements under exemption of state statute and county ordinance (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 27-34, Addendum A).

28. Fitzgeralds signed, filed, and recorded restrictive covenants on all the land to be sold on forms provided by Utah County restricting all of the land to agricultural non-residential use (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 27-34, Doc. 80, Exhibit B(1) and F(8), Addendum H & I).

29. Plaintiffs entered into a contract to sell Boyd Corbett and Keith Gurr several thousand acres of land in Cedar Valley (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 26, Addendum A).

30. Corbett and Gurr came to Fitzgerald requesting him to sign an agricultural waiver and recorded covenants restricting the use of the land to agricultural purposes until

a subdivision plat was filed, so that they could sell their land to their buyers (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 27, Addendum A).

31. Corbett and Gurr and Fitzgerald signed the restrictive covenants in the County offices (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 27, Addendum A).

32. Sometime later, the County Planning office notified them that they would have to have Richard McKinney sign the restrictive covenants limiting the property to agricultural useage. Fitzgerald approached Mr. McKinney and he objected to one of the paragraphs in the restrictive covenants provided to us by Utah County. Eventually, Mr. McKinney and Fitzgerald were referred to the Deputy County Attorney, Richard Dalebout. He informed them that they would take out the objectionable paragraphs and that it could then be processed and the agricultural waiver issued. When they returned to the office, Mr. McKinney wanted to discuss privately with Fitzgerald a matter, and asked to renegotiate the contract under which he was purchasing the McKinney properties, for a substantially larger price. Fitzgerald would not renegotiate the contract, and Mr. McKinney refused to sign the agricultural waiver as a result (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 27, Addendum A).

33. In their efforts to get the approvals of the County at a subsequent time, Fitzgerald and Corbett and Gurr submitted restrictive covenants to the County on the County's forms which had been notarized at Valley Title (Doc 80,

Exhibit B, paragraph 29, Addendum A).

34. They presented them to Iva Snell. The County again insisted that they should obtain the signature of Richard McKinney, since they knew that he would not sign the restrictive covenants. Fitzgerald informed them that he was the owner of the land and that they had his signature and those of Corbett and Gurr, who were the new buyers of the land, and that they were going to record the restrictive covenants. Iva Snell informed him that if he recorded the restrictive covenants, the County would bring a lawsuit against him (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 25-30, Addendum A).

35. At a later time, Walter Fitzgerald requested that Leland Fitzgerald go with him to place restrictive covenants on the land to limit it to agricultural useage so that he might obtain a waiver allowing his buyer, Printess Fitzgerald, to sell some of that land because Utah County had a new employee, Nick Zullo, who would work with them. Nick Zullo said that he would work with them if they would get the signatures of as many of the owners as they could. Fitzgerald obtained the signatures of Sterling Sill, T.H. Bell, Walter Fitzgerald, Nephi Fitzgerald, Kent Angel, Noal Batemen, and Jim Hillner. They took the restrictive covenants to Nick Zullo. Zullo said he was surprised they could get everybody's signature, but that they now had what was required and the waiver was approved (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 32, Addendum A).

36. Zullo told Leland Fitzgerald to record the

restrictive covenants with the Utah County Recorder, and he did so. Later, Leland received a letter from Iva Snell informing him that the application for agricultural waiver had been denied, even though he had seen Nick Zullo sign the approval (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 32, Addendum A).

37. On another occasion, Fitzgerald decided to proceed with an agricultural waiver on the DuPratt property. He went in to get the restrictive covenants from the county. Mr. DuPratt, agreed to sign the restrictive covenants. Iva Snell told him that he could not proceed on the DuPratt properties with an agricultural waiver until he proceeded with the McKinney properties. She told him she would not approve a non-agricultural waiver on the DuPratt land until he had McKinney's signature. (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 33, Addendum A).

38. As a result of that refusal, he decided he would proceed on the Monte Vista Ranch properties. He went to the Planning office and was told by Iva Snell that he could not proceed on Monte Vista Ranch because he had to have the McKinney properties and the Dupratt properties approved first. She told him that in order to approve the Monte Vista Ranch properties, he would have to have the signature on the restrictive covenants of the Cooperative Security Corporation, which had been the seller to the Ohran group, who then formed Monte Vista Ranch. She also said she was going to require that the former stockholders of the Monte Vista Ranch sign the restrictive covenants. He argued with her that they were only

stockholders in the corporation and that the corporation owned the land, but she refused to let him process the application for nonagricultural waiver unless he secured the signature of the former stockholders of the corporation as well as the seller of the land, the Cooperative Security Corporation. He went to the Ohran people, and they refused to sign it, saying that they were not the owners of the land, that it was owned by the corporation. Iva Snell sent him a letter, telling him that they rejected the application of Monte Vista Ranch, even though it was the titled owner of the land (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 34, Addendum A).

39. The county and the individually named defendants launched a series of newspaper articles in which they made references to unnamed persons characterized as "land developers" in Cedar Valley carrying out a multitude of illegal transactions. The articles were obviously aimed at plaintiffs (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 35, Addendum A).

40. The articles referred to 374 "defendants" who had allegedly violated County ordinances and the State Land Sales Practices Act (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 36, Addendum A).

41. On deposition, Buckley Rose said he did not know where the number of 374 had been obtained by the Daily Herald. When the deposition of Dawn Tracy, the reporter from the Daily Herald, was taken, she produced at that deposition a list of persons which included buyers and seller of land in Cedar Valley, as well as owners of land in Cedar Valley who

had neither bought nor sold land for more than 50 years. The designation at the top of that list was "374 defendants" (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 38, Addendum A).

42. At the time Utah County brought the lawsuit against Fitzgerald and others, the request for suit was prepared by Gordon Buckley Rose and signed by Jeff Mendenhall, and approved by Keith Richan, Jeril Wilson, and the County Commission, as indicated in their depositions. Buckley Rose denied knowledge of the origin of the list of 374 defendants. When it was revealed by the deposition of Dawn Tracy, the list itself was shown to be in the handwriting of Buckley Rose. He had placed the designation "374 Defendants" on that list (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, Paragraph 39, Addendum A).

43. At the time of the request for suit against the defendants was submitted to the Utah County Attorney's Office, that list was attached to the request. At the time plaintiffs requested Utah County to furnish copies of the documents pertaining to the lawsuit, the request for litigation was provided, but the itemization of the 374 defendants had been removed and was not produced until the deposition of Dawn Tracy (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 40, Addendum A).

44. Leland Fitzgerald was present when that list was produced by Dawn Tracy, who testified that it was obtained from a former employee of the Utah County Planning Department (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 41, Addendum A).

45. The admissions on deposition by Jeril Wilson and Lynn Davis that they did not look at any of the individual

transactions before they filed the lawsuit against Fitzgerald demonstrates that the combined efforts of Keith Richan, Lynn Davis, Jeril Wilson, Jeff Mendenhall, Iva Snell, and Buckley Rose were a conspiracy to destroy Fitzgerald without even verifying the transactions reported by Buckley Rose (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 38-42, Addendum A).

46. The references by the County Commissioners, Lynn Davis, and the other Planning personnel to the "land scam" and "illegal sales" of land in Cedar Valley, the alleged sale of land to which the sellers could not deliver title, all was calculated and in fact resulted in the complete destruction of the potential market and value of Fitzgeralds' land in Cedar Valley (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 44, Addendum A).

47. The actions of the County not only destroyed the market for future sales, but destroyed many sales of valid and enforceable contracts by causing the buyers to refuse to go forward with their contracts because of the representations of the County that they were victims of a "land scam" (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 45, Addendum A).

48. Keith Richan personally appeared on television and badmouthed Leland Fitzgerald. He used words such as land scam," "illegal subdivision," etc. (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 46, Addendum A).

49. In March, 1983, Utah County brought a lawsuit against appellants, asking for injunctions prohibiting sales, abatement of sales, prohibiting obtaining of building permits, voiding all prior sales, and asking for attorneys fees and

costs (Doc. 80, Exhibit B (6), Addendum F).

50. In connection with the lawsuit Utah County filed a lis pendens on all of appellants lands in Cedar Valley (Doc. 80, Exhibit B (7), Addendum G).

51. The County brought the suit against Leland Fitzgerald and other parties for simply buying and selling land. At a later time, Utah County dismissed their complaint against Fitzgeralds in the State Court (Doc. 80, Exhibit B (8), Addendum L).

52. The lawsuit was filed after the Fitzgeralds had put more than 29,500 acres under restrictive covenants restricting the land from being used except for agriculture purposes (Doc. 80, Exhibit B, paragraph 51, Addendum A).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal is from the trial court grant of defendants Motion for Summary Judgment on all issues. As such, the standard of review is that it must be viewed in a light most favorable to the appellants, Poller v. Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc., (1962) 368 U.S. 464, 7 L.Ed 2d 458, 82 S. Ct 486, 5 FR Serv 2d 886. This court must consider factual inferences tending to show triable issues in a light most favorable to the existence of such issues, Redhouse v. Quality Ford Sales, Inc., (1975 , CA 10 Utah) 511 F2d 230, 19 FR Serv 2d 1309, on reh (CA 10 Utah) 523 F2d 1, 20 FR Serv 2d 864.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFFS' FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS ARE SUFFICIENT
AS A MATTER OF LAW TO REQUIRE FACTUAL DETERMINATIONS
BY THE JURY

- A. The applicable statutes and ordinances in question exceed the state's police power and are therefore constitutionally invalid.

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