1989

Leland Fitzgerald v. Utah County : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The District Court agreed that the ordinance was a valid exercise of the police power. The District Court also found that the Fitzgeralds' interpretation of the State enabling legislation was in error:

. . . The court notes that plaintiffs [appellants] claim that Utah Code Annotated § 17-27-27 precludes counties from interfering with the right to sell properties under the enumerated exceptions . . . However, the applicable ordinances do not preclude subdivision of agricultural land for agricultural purposes. Rather, they merely insure by requiring covenants be filed that land exempted from the subdivision requirements in § 17-27-27 shall not be utilized for any purpose that would otherwise require the filing of a subdivision plat. These ordinances impose reasonable regulations not

inconsistent with [the statute], well within the County's authority.

(Memorandum Decision, September 7, 1988, page 4).

The District Court further found that the ordinances were constitutionally enacted pursuant to valid, police power authority. The ordinances obviously related to zoning and planning functions of the County by promoting controlled growth and insuring that lands used for one purpose were not "funneled" into another purpose through the exemption from subdivision plat filing requirements. The Court recognized that zoning decisions are a legislative function and courts should avoid substituting their judgments for that of the legislative body of a municipality, Crest View-Holladay Homeowners' Association, Inc. v. Engh Floral Company, 454 P.2d 1150, 1152 (Utah 1976).

Contrary to the Fitzgeralds' assertions, the ordinance did not invest County officials with unconstitutional authority. The Fitzgeralds complained of "difficulty" in complying with the ordinance. This "difficulty" was no doubt occasioned because buyers and sellers of the property became aware, through the ordinance, that the property in Cedar Valley was restricted to agricultural use, inconsistent with the "marketing" which accompanied many of the sales. The ordinance was neither vague nor arbitrary and as the District Court found "the ordinances . . . sufficiently spell out what is required of a subdivider. Persons of common sense and understanding would not have to guess

at the meaning of the ordinances." (Memorandum Decision, September 7, 1988, page 7).

B. The Ordinances Were Constitutionally Applied.

The Fitzgeralds contend that enforcement of Utah County Ordinance 4-3-53 was unconstitutional because it violated their rights to procedural due process. Utah County submits that the procedural due process claim is without merit for at least two reasons. First, the Fitzgeralds did not have any property interest protected by the federal constitution which was affected by application of the ordinance. Second, the Fitzgeralds' claims are not ripe because they failed to pursue available administrative remedies.

Regarding the first defect in the Fitzgeralds' position, they complain that they enjoyed an unfettered right to receive a waiver or exemption from the normal subdivision plat filing requirement. However, they point to no legal authority recognizing that an expectation of receiving an exemption or waiver from normal requirements constitutes a protected property interest. Hope of obtaining a waiver is not an entitlement, but rather rests with the discretion of government officials. Even if Utah County officials violated the ordinance in its application, (which Utah County denies) such a violation does not implicate the federal constitution.

It has long been recognized that § 1983 imposes liability only for violations of rights protected by the constitution, not simply for all claims which may be cognizable under state tort, statutory or contract law. To do otherwise would make the Civil Rights Act a "font of tort law to be superimposed upon whatever system may already be administered by the states," Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 701 (1976). Every act by a state official does not necessarily rise to constitutional dimensions, Baker v. McCollan, 443 U.S. 137 (1979). Furthermore, violations of state statutes or municipal ordinances do not necessarily create a cause of action under § 1983, nor do they necessarily state a violation of the due process clause. Kompare v. Stein, 801 F.2d 883 (7th Cir. 1986).

The existence of a state created procedure which provides a remedy for one who challenges the enforcement of a statute or ordinance is one factor to be considered in deciding whether the appellants' "interest" is protected by the Federal Constitution. Parratt v. Taylor, 451 U.S. 527 (1981); Boston Environmental Sanitation Inspectors Association v. Boston, 794 F.2d 12 (1st Cir. 1986). Spence v. Zimmerman, 873 F.2d 256, 261 (11th Cir. 1989) ("Ordinance enforcement . . . is not the stuff of which constitutional violations are made"); Burrell v. City of Kankakee, 815 F.2d 1127, 1129 (7th Cir. 1987); Creative Environments, Inc. v. Estabrook, 680 F.2d 822, 833 (1st Cir. 1982).

As to the second defect in the Fitzgeralds' due process claim, Utah County contends that the Fitzgeralds have not suffered a due process violation because an adequate state remedy was available which provided redress for the specific grievance of which the Fitzgeralds complain. However, the Fitzgeralds made no attempt to obtain relief through administrative procedures and therefore the extent of the government's action was never determined, despite the existence of an opportunity to receive procedural due process.

The concepts of finality and adequacy of state remedies in the context of a § 1983 claim were first enunciated in Parratt v. Taylor, supra, where the Court identified one of the critical elements of a valid Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Claims as "including only those deprivations which occur, without due process of law." The Parratt Court extensively evaluated what pre- and post-deprivation remedies may be available to an aggrieved party under applicable state law and adopted the following approach:

We may reasonably conclude, therefore, that the existence of an adequate state remedy to redress property damage inflicted by state officers avoided the conclusion that there has been any constitutional deprivation of property without due process of law within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment. 451 U.S. at 542 (citing Bonner v. Coughlin, 417 F.2d 1311, 1319 (7th Cir. 1975)).

Such analysis has been refined by later decisions and was particularly emphasized in Williamson Regional Planning

Commission v. Hamilton Bank, 105 Sup.Ct. 3108 (1985). There, the Court made reference to Parratt and concluded that constitutional guarantees may be adequately satisfied by a state's provision of a meaningful post-deprivation process. The Court held that state action may not be "complete" in the sense of causing a constitutional injury, unless or until the state fails to provide an adequate post-deprivation remedy. Id. at 3121. See also McDonald, Summer and Frates v. County of Yolo, 106 Sup.Ct. 2561 (1986).

This court has addressed a similar claim very recently in Landmark Land Company of Oklahoma, Inc. v. Buchanan, 874 F.2d 717 (10th cir. 1989). In Landmark a developer brought a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claiming that officials of Del City, Oklahoma violated procedural due process by failing to issue certain building permits and that the failure to do so resulted in financial losses to the developer. This Court found that assuming the developer (Landmark) had a federally protected property interest in the permits, the City could not withhold them without affording due process. The Court noted that the developer had a property interest only to the extent to which Oklahoma law or local ordinance gave it a "legitimate claim of entitlement" as opposed to a mere "unilateral expectation." (Quoting Littlefield v. City of Afton, 75 F.2d 596, 599-603 (8th Cir. 1986)). The Court then held that consideration of the extent of the property interest was not necessary since Landmark

had received all of the process due by appearance before the Del City Board of Adjustment. The Court also found the developer's taking and substantive due process claims were not ripe for federal review because the City's actions had not reached sufficient finality regarding the property in question.

In the instant case, the Fitzgeralds, unlike the developer in Landmark, made no application of any kind to the Utah County Board of Adjustment for review of the decisions of the zoning officials concerning any alleged errors of interpretation reportedly made regarding the validity of the waiver of subdivision plat filing requirements which the Fitzgeralds attempted to obtain. In the context of possible deprivation of constitutional rights, the Fitzgeralds suffered no due process violation because they blatantly failed to take advantage of administrative and judicial relief which was available to them. If the Fitzgeralds were dissatisfied with the decisions of zoning officials, they had an opportunity to appear before the Utah County Board of Adjustment, Utah County Ordinance for § 4-7-13. The Board had the power to

". . . Hear and decide appeals concerning errors of interpretation reportedly made by a zoning administrator."

The Fitzgeralds claim that they do not allege errors of interpretation by zoning administrators; but that allegation is simply not tenable. Disagreements about waivers from the subdivision plat filing requirement and the sufficiency of

restrictive covenants could have been heard and decided by the Board of Adjustments. The Fitzgeralds never made an appearance before the Board of Adjustment nor did they petition to the Board for review of their disagreements with zoning officials. As this court noted in Landmark Land Company, "[a]s long as Landmark had 'the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner,' the 'fundamental requirement of due process' is satisfied." Landmark at 723-724.

The Fitzgeralds also could have obtained judicial review of an adverse decision by the Board of Adjustments. The Fitzgeralds allege that judicial review was impossible because the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, 63-30-1, et. seq., Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended) creates immunity from damages for certain of the allegations in the Fitzgeralds' Complaint. Reference to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act does not cure the defects in the Fitzgeralds' position, however. Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-15 (1953, as amended) provides explicit authority for Utah Courts to review complaints of any person aggrieved by a decision of the Board of Adjustment. The statute also provides that such a person may maintain a plenary action for relief. Again, the invalidity of the Fitzgeralds' position is clear: they could have petitioned the Board of Adjustment for review of zoning officials' decisions, they did not do so. If the decision of the Board of Adjustment were adverse, the Fitzgeralds could have obtained judicial review of the Board of Adjustment's decision. The

Fitzgeralds failed to avail themselves of these explicit remedies and consequently their due process claim was dismissed.

The Fitzgeralds complain that the actions of Utah County officials were intended to interfere with the Fitzgeralds' right to alienate their property and further frustrated their dream of developing a rural, agricultural community in Cedar Valley. In this respect, the Fitzgeralds are much like the real estate developer in Creative Environments, Inc. v. Estabrook, 680 F.2d 822, 833 (1st Cir. 1982). The developer in Creative Environments, Inc. submitted a subdivision plan which was rejected by the town's planning board. The developer then asserted a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 that the town's officials violated the developer's due process and equal protection rights by "distorting" and misapplying statutory and regulatory development laws, 680 F.2d at 831. Further, the defendants [Planning Board] allegedly interpreted the laws "in ways which frustrated plaintiffs'" project. Id. at 833.

While recognizing that "it is not impossible to derive a theoretical basis for [plaintiffs'] arguments," the First Circuit affirmed defendants' summary judgment, holding that such claims are:

[T]oo typical of the run of the mill dispute between a developer and a town planning agency, regardless of [plaintiffs'] characterizations of it and of defendants' alleged mental states . . . Every appeal by a disappointed developer from an adverse ruling by a local . . . planning board necessarily

involves some claim that the board exceeded, abused, or "distorted" its legal authority in some manner, often for some perverse (from the developer's point of view) reason. It is not enough simply to give these state law claims constitutional labels such as "due process" or "equal protection" in order to raise a substantial federal questions under § 1983.

Id. at 833 (emphasis in original).

In elaboration, the court stated that the federal constitution is not invoked "simply because a local planning board . . . makes demands which arguably exceed its authority under the relevant state statutes." Id. at 832 n.9. "§ 1983 is not a means of litigating the correctness of . . . state or local administrative decision." Id. "Were such a theory to be accepted, any hope of maintaining a meaningful separation between federal and state jurisdiction in this and many other areas of law would be jettisoned." Id. at 831.

C. Plaintiffs Claims For Taking of Their Property Should be Dismissed.

Landmark Land Company of Oklahoma, Inc. v. Buchanan, 874 F.2d 717 (10th Cir. 1989) also disposes of appellants' taking claim. In Landmark the court found that in order to assert a taking claim under § 1983 and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments "the government entity charged with implementing the regulations [must have] . . . reached a final decision regarding the application of the regulations to the property at issue." Citing

Williamson Regional Planning Commission v. Hamilton Bank, 473 U.S. 172, 105 Sup.Ct. 3108 (1985). The court also noted, "[a] 'final decision' requires not only an initial rejection of particular development proposal, but a definitive action by local authorities indicating with some specificity what level of development will be permitted on the property in question." 874 F.2d at 720.

The Fitzgeralds cannot even allege that they attempted to obtain a final decision from Utah County or that the County ever decided with specificity what limitations, if any, would apply to the Fitzgeralds' sale of their property. The Fitzgeralds failed to make any application to the Board of Adjustment regarding decisions of Utah County zoning officials. Therefore under Landmark and Williamson County, the Fitzgeralds' claim for a taking lacks ripeness and finality and must be dismissed.

Moreover, the Fitzgeralds cannot show and failed to present any evidence before the District Court that they were denied all viable uses of their property. The District Court recognized the weakness of the Fitzgeralds' taking claim. The District Court found that, "[t]he Supreme Court in emphasizing the character of the governmental action [has said that] land use regulation does not effect a taking if it 'substantially advance[s] legitimate state interests and does not 'does not den[y] an owner economically viable use of his land.'" Citing Nolan v. California

Coastal Commission, 107 Sup.Ct. 3141 (1987) (quoting Agins v. Tiburon, 447 U.S. 255, 260 (1980)).

The District Court's decision is entirely consistent with this court's decision in Landmark. This Court said, "[i]f Del City den[ies] [Landmark] 'all use of its property for a considerable period,' Landmark will have a claim for temporary taking under the Supreme Court's recent holding in First English Evangelical Lutheran Church v. County of Los Angeles." Id. at 721. The Fitzgeralds have not been denied all use of their property, even for a temporary period. First, the Fitzgeralds could comply with the plat requirements and develop the land through that process. Second, the Fitzgeralds could alienate the land or develop it for agricultural purposes without subdividing. Third, the Fitzgeralds have not shown that they cannot possible comply with the restrictive covenants requirements. Fourth, the Board of Adjustment could afford some relief.

Landmark also addresses the Fitzgeralds' claim of frustrated sales:

"It is true that the delays entailed in this requirement [finality of government action] might result in certain injuries to land-owners. Indeed, Landmark alleges it lost two sales because of the regulatory cloud over its head. However, "[m]ere fluctuations in value during the process of governmental decision making, absent extraordinary delay, are 'incidents of ownership'" citing Agins v. City Tiburon, 447 U.S. 255, 263 n.9.

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